
222

Corporate & Democratic Services
www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings

Cabinet Agenda
Monday, 8 January 2018 at 6.00 pm
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place, Hastings, East Sussex, TN34 3UY

For further information, please contact Michael Courts on 01424 451764 or email 
mcourts@hastings.gov.uk

Page No.

1.  Apologies for Absence
2.  Declaration of Interests
3.  Minutes of last meeting held on 4 December 2018 1 - 10
4.  Notification of Additional Urgent Items
5.  Youth Council Manifesto 11 - 18

(Monica Adams-Acton, Assistant Director Regeneration and 
Culture)
(Cabinet Decision)
 

6.  Hastings Museum Strategic Development 19 - 38
(Monica Adams-Acton, Assistant Director Regeneration and 
Culture)
(Cabinet Decision)
 

7.  Lifeguard Service 39 - 42
(Monica Adams-Acton, Assistant Director Regeneration and 
Culture)
(Cabinet Decision)
 

8.  Proposal for Local Nature Reserves 43 - 50
(Mike Hepworth, Assistant Director Environment and Place)
(Cabinet Decision)
 

9.  Minutes of the Museums Committee meeting held on 27 November 
2017

51 - 58

10.  Urgent Items (if any)

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET

4 DECEMBER 2017

CAB. 1

Present: Councillors Chowney (Chair), Forward, Batsford, Fitzgerald, Poole, 
Beaney, Lee and Patmore

46. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

The following Councillors declared an interest in the minutes:

Councillor Minute Number Interest
Beaney 52 – Sports Village 

Development
Prejudicial – she is a 
Director of Hastings Housing 
Company

Forward 52 – Sports Village 
Development

Prejudicial – she is a Trustee 
of the Education Futures 
Trust

47. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 6 NOVEMBER 2017 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 6 November 
2017 be approved as a correct record 

RESOLVED the chair called over the items on the agenda, under rule 13.3 
of the council’s constitution, the recommendations set out in minute 
numbers were agreed without being called for discussion

48. COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 

The Assistant Director, Financial Services and Revenues, submitted a report which 
sought member approval for the proposed council tax support scheme 2018/19.

Local authorities are required to adopt their own local council tax support schemes 
each year.  The local scheme rules only apply to working age customers.  The grant 
funding for the council tax support scheme is included within the revenue support 
grant and retained business rates.

When designing the scheme it is important to strike a balance between protecting 
those on low incomes and maintaining essential services.  The current scheme sets a 
minimum weekly award of £5, removes second adult rebate and increases non-
dependant deductions.  

No changes of the scheme are proposed for 2018/19.  However, all local authorities in 
East Sussex have agreed to undertake a comprehensive review before agreeing their 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



CABINET

4 DECEMBER 2017

CAB. 2

schemes for 2019/20.  The review will reflect recent changes to the welfare system, 
particularly the increasing impact of Universal Credit.

Under rule 13.3 of the council’s constitution, the recommendations of this report were 
agreed without being called for discussion.

RESOLVED:

1. To recommend to Full Council that there will be now change to the 
existing council tax support scheme in respect of working age customers 
for 2018/19, and;

2. To authorise the Assistant Director, Financial Services and Revenues, to 
uprate allowances and premiums, as required, when announced by the 
government together with any relevant changes to the prescribed 
legislation

The reason for this decision was:
The local authority is required to approve a scheme for the provision of council tax 
support in respect of 2018/19 by 31 January 2018.

49. NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATE (NNDR) RELIEF 

The Assistant Director, Financial Services and Revenues, presented a report which 
sought Cabinet approval for a policy in respect of the level of discretionary business 
rate relief to be granted to certain defined ratepayers with Hastings Borough Council 
area.

Following a revaluation of premises in April 2017, a number of local business have 
seen an increase in the business rate liabilities.  Under the localism act 2011, the 
council may grant discretionary business rate relief.  The council has been awarded 
an additional grant by the government, to assist businesses affected by the 
revaluation.

The funding covers a 4 year period and a draft policy for administering the grant was 
appended to the report.  In order to be eligible for funding, the business must have 
been occupying their premises on 1 April 2017.  The council has consulted the major 
preceptors on the proposed scheme. 

Around 300 potential recipients of the proposed scheme have been identified, and 
these businesses will be contacted directly, once the policy has been approved.

Councillor Chowney proposed approval of the recommendations to the Assistant 
Director, Financial Services and Revenues report, which was seconded by Councillor 
Lee.

RESOLVED (unanimously) that:

Page 2



CABINET

4 DECEMBER 2017

CAB. 3

1. The draft policy attached to the report is approved, and;
2. The Assistant Director, Financial Services and Revenues, is 

authorised, in consultation with the Leader of the Council, to make 
any necessary changes to the policy, if there are changes or likely 
to be changes in legislation, or if the total relief being granted could 
result in the total payments exceeding the level of grant 

The reason for this decision was:
The council needs a policy to set out how they will allocate the grant monies received 
from central government to help local businesses affected by the revaluation.

50. AN ENERGY TRANSITION FOR HASTINGS 

The Income Generation Manager presented a report which updated the council on 
income generation opportunities through the generation and supply of renewable 
energy.  The report set out outcomes which may be achieved over the short, medium 
and long term and the levels of investment required to assess these opportunities 
further.

In summer 2017, the council commissioned an energy options study.  The study 
recommended a number of efficiency measures which the council could implement on 
the buildings it owns to reduce energy consumption and associated costs.  The 
recommendations will be implemented as part of the council’s renewals and 
maintenance plans.  

The study also identified potential opportunities for the council to gain additional 
income by the generation and supply of renewable energy.  These opportunities would 
require further investigation, and it was recommended that the council develop an 
energy strategy to co-ordinate and prioritise this work and provide a framework for 
joint working and exploring funding opportunities.

Members commented that many of the opportunities described in the report could 
provide economic, social and environmental benefits to the people and businesses of 
the borough, as well as generating additional income for the council.

Councillor Chowney proposed approval of the recommendations to the report, which 
was seconded by Councillor Beaney.

RESOLVED (unanimously):
1. To note the progress already made in achieving energy efficiencies.

2. To make provision within the Capital Programme of £1.76m for the purchase 
and installation of solar photovoltaic arrays.

3. That delegated authority be given to the Chief Financial Officer, in 
consultation with the Leader to authorise the procurement of design and 
installation of solar photovoltaic arrays as outlined at para. 19-23. 

Page 3



CABINET

4 DECEMBER 2017

CAB. 4

4. That a position of Project Support Officer is created for a fixed term until Mar 
2019 (with an option to extend) to assist delivery. This position will be paid 
for through a bid to the Invest to Save Fund. 

5. To continue work to develop plans to bring forward large scale wind 
generation for the Borough.  This will include a review of gaps in planning 
policy and a bid to the Invest to Save fund to erect wind monitoring masts to 
check the national database wind assumptions; with a further report to 
follow in April 2018.

6. To continue work to develop plans to bring forward district heat networks 
for the Borough; including submitting a bid to the Heat Networks Delivery 
Unit for a grant funding to conduct feasibility studies, with match funding of 
up to 33%.  A further report to follow in April 2018. 

7. To continue work to develop plans to bring forward an alternative energy 
generation and supply model for Hastings; including submitting a 
declaration of interest to the European Regional Development Fund to trial a 
smart grid.  A further report to follow in Apr 2018.

8. To enter into informal dialogue with energy supply licence holders about a 
potential partnership with Hastings Borough Council which could bring offer 
a tariff underpinned by local generation.  A further report to follow in Apr 
2018.

9. To develop an Energy Strategy for Hastings Borough, the first draft to be 
considered in April 2018.

The reason for this decision was:
Implementing the recommendations in this report will help the Council deliver its 
Corporate Priorities, as follows:

a. Economic and physical regeneration – generating and supplying energy locally 
keeps money in the local economy.  Supporting local businesses by retaining them 
to deliver some of the recommendations in this report could help safeguard and 
create new skilled jobs.

b. A greener town – if they are all implemented following due diligence the measures 
in this report have the potential to contribute to the Councils climate change 
ambitions namely, to reduce emissions of greenhouse gases. We will establish an 
appropriate target to monitor the energy generated and the greenhouse gases 
saved through our planned activities. This will be established in the context of 
national carbon reduction targets as set by the Climate Change Act 2008 (to 
reduce emissions by at least 51% by 2025 and 80% by 2050 based on 1990 
levels).  

c. Intervention where it’s needed – the energy industry is in the throes of transition.  
There are various reasons for this but a major one is the increasing cost of 
distributing energy.  It is for this reason that UK Power Networks, the District 
Network Operator for the area including Hastings has publically declared its move 

Page 4



CABINET

4 DECEMBER 2017

CAB. 5

to a new model of doing business.  The Council has a leadership role to play in this 
transition to ensure that the Borough derives maximum benefits as the transition 
rolls out.

d. Changing the way we work – it is unlikely that all of the opportunities identified in 
this report can be brought forward. If, after due diligence they are all implemented 
they could generate an annual contribution of up to £1.156m for an investment of 
up to £9.98m; this represents a gross Return on Investment (ROI) of 11.57%.  The 
Income Generation Strategy is far more cautious and, after discounting the more 
challenging aspects of the programme calls for a return of £630k for an investment 
of £6m, or a gross ROI of 10.6%.

51. APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR 

The Chief Auditor submitted a report which sought Cabinet approval to accept the 
Public Sector Audit Limited (PSAA) appointment of Grant Thornton (UK) LLP as the 
council’s external auditor.

The council is part of a national scheme for auditor appointment, which is organised 
by PSAA. PSAA appointed Grant Thornton (UK) LLP to Hastings Borough Council.  
The Audit Committee raised no objection to this 
appointment at its meeting held on 21 September 2017.

Under rule 13.3 of the council’s constitution, the recommendations of this report were 
agreed without being called for discussion.

RESOLVED to accept the recommendation for Grant Thornton (UK) LLP 
as the council’s external auditor

The reason for this decision was:
Part 3 of the constitution of the council (responsibility for functions) states that the 
Audit Committee should “recommend to the Cabinet any change of the external audit 
provider”.

52. SPORTS VILLAGE DEVELOPMENT 

Councillors Beaney and Forward, having declared a prejudicial interest in this matter, 
left the chamber during the debate on this item.

The Director of Operational Services presented a report which sought authority for the 
sale of land at less than market value in order to enable the construction of a new 
sports village on council owned land at Bexhill Recreation Ground.

The council has been approached by Bohemia LLP seeking the sale of council owned 
land at Elphinstone Road and land at lower tier of Bexhill Road Recreation Ground for 
housing development.  Profits from the sale of the housing would be used to support 
the creation of a multi-use sporting and leisure facility on council-owned land at 

Page 5



CABINET

4 DECEMBER 2017

CAB. 6

Bulverhythe.  All of these schemes would require separate planning approval and the 
satisfactory completion of assessments of flood prevention measures of the sites.  
However, the developer required an assurance of the council’s agreement in principal 
to the sale of these sites, before proceeding further.

Members commented that this proposal provided a significant opportunity to improve 
the sporting and leisure facilities in the town.  The development of land at Elphinstone 
Road and Bexhill Road would also provide much-needed affordable housing.  There 
may also be an opportunity for the council’s housing company to purchase some units 
of accommodation.

Councillor Chowney proposed approval of the recommendations to the report, which 
was seconded by Councillor Lee.

RESOLVED (unanimously):
1.  Cabinet agree to recommend to Full Council the sale of land to Keepmoat 

Ltd and/or Bohemia LLP as detailed under para 4 of this report:

i. The freehold of the current Hastings United Football Ground and 
Hastings United Sports and Social Club site

ii. A 999 year leasehold at Bulverhythe for the construction of the 
proposed Sports Village

iii. The freehold of land at the lower tier of Bexhill Road Recreation 
Ground for housing development.

These sales being on the basis of the Local Government Act 1972 which 
allows sale of less than best consideration on the basis of social, economic 
or environmental wellbeing.

2. That any sale is on the basis of the conditions set out in paras 4, 5 and 35 of 
this report.

3. The Director of Operational Services, Assistant Director Financial Services 
& Revenues and Chief Legal Officer agree final terms on the basis of this 
report in consultation with the Leader of the Council.

The reason for this decision was:

To enable the promoters to bring forward detailed planning applications for housing 
and sports facilities as outlined in the report.

The Leader of the Council proposed a motion for the exclusion of the public from the 
meeting, which was unanimously agreed as follows:

RESOLVED that the public be excluded from the meeting during the 
consideration of the items of business listed below because it is likely 
that if members of the public were present there would be disclosure to 

Page 6



CABINET

4 DECEMBER 2017

CAB. 7

them of “exempt” information as defined in the paragraphs of schedule 
12A to the Local Government Act 1972 referred to in the relevant report.

53. WHITE ROCK THEATRE 

The Assistant Director, Regeneration and Culture, presented a report which proposed 
a way forward for the management of the White Rock Theatre beyond the expiry of 
the present contract in January 2019, which will deliver ongoing cultural provision, 
achieve budget savings and allow for a strategic approach to the development of 
cultural provision.

Councillor Chowney proposed approval of the recommendations to the report, which 
was seconded by Councillor Forward.

RESOLVED (unanimously):
1. That the council should as its first preference negotiate terms for the 

extension of the current contract with HQ Theatres & Hospitality for a 
period of 5 years 

2. That the council begins an OJEU procurement process to secure a new 
operator in order to ensure continued operation should detailed 
negotiations with HQ Theatres & Hospitality for an extension prove to be 
unsuccessful.

3. That both processes be delegated to the Director of Operational Services 
or his nominee working with the Assistant Director Financial Services & 
Revenues and Chief Legal Officer in consultation with the Leader of the 
Council.

4. That the council should develop a firm long term view of the type of 
cultural programme it is seeking and wishes to subsidise beyond this 
period, and develop the ideas and vehicles needed to deliver these 
aspirations.

The reason for this decision was:
1. To achieve the budget savings required by the council’s financial position.
2. The negotiated approach allows for the continuity and effective management of 

the facility whilst allowing the scope for more refined options to be considered 
and developed in the future for cultural activity to be developed.

3. Procurement is the appropriate legal and business approach if the contract 
extension cannot be negotiated satisfactorily

4. Refined legal advice has clarified that the negotiated pathways are possible.  
This presents the council with a more flexible approach than procurement.

54. PROPERTY PURCHASE 

Page 7



CABINET

4 DECEMBER 2017

CAB. 8

The Assistant Director, Financial Services and Revenues, presented a report to 
consider the purchase of a commercial property.

Since the report had been submitted, the vendor had re-negotiated the terms of the 
lease with the existing tenant to remove the first break clause.  Members were advised 
that the asking price for the property had been increased and that the figure within the 
second recommendation should be increased by £150,000 (which was agreed).

Councillor Chowney proposed approval of the amended recommendations, which was 
seconded by Councillor Fitzgerald.

RESOLVED (by 6 votes for, to 2 against) that:

1. Cabinet resolve to purchase the property, and;
2. Delegated authority is given to the Assistant Director, Financial Services 

and Revenues, in consultation with the Leader of the Council to purchase 
the best possible price, up to the amount discussed at the meeting (plus 
stamp duty, land tax, registration fees and agents fees plus associated 
costs)

The reason for this decision was:
The site is adjacent to the council owned retail park. It is a prime site that occupies a 
prominent position and is considered to be a low density site. There would be potential 
synergies for future development/ redevelopment in conjunction with the council’s 
existing site as and when current leases expire. It remains important to Hastings that 
there is sufficient affordable land retained in the town to ensure there are attractive 
locations for companies to base them themselves. The council needs to ensure that 
key areas remains attractive for the future to ensure businesses are attracted to, and 
remain in, Hastings – particularly so as the council will need to ensure business rate 
growth in the future. 

The council would have the opportunity to have a direct involvement in the long term 
future of this site to help ensure the continued economic and regeneration of the town. 
The acquisition would also assist the council to diversify its property holdings and 
manage the overall risk exposure within the portfolio. The council would also secure 
an additional income stream.

55. PROPERTY PURCHASE 

The Assistant Director, Financial Services and Revenues, presented a report which 
considered the retail property in the town centre.

Councillor Chowney proposed approval of the recommendations set out in the report, 
which was seconded by Councillor Batsford.

RESOLVED (unanimously) that:

Page 8



CABINET

4 DECEMBER 2017

CAB. 9

1. Cabinet agree to purchase the property, and;
2. Delegated authority is given to the Assistant Director, Financial Services 

and Revenues, in consultation with the Leader of the Council to purchase 
the property at the best possible price up to the figure set out in the 
report (plus stamp duty, land tax, registration fees, and agents fees plus 
associated costs) – the yield is on the actual investment being some 
6.25%

The reason for this decision was:
The property is the only significant department store in the town. It occupies a central 
position and remains a key asset for the town in attracting footfall and contributing 
towards making Hastings a good place to live and work. It remains important to 
Hastings that there is sufficient affordable retail space retained in the town to ensure 
there are attractive locations for companies to base them themselves. The premises 
are currently fully occupied by Debenhams on lease expiring in 2034.

The council needs to ensure that key areas remains attractive for the future to ensure 
businesses are attracted to, and remain in, Hastings – particularly so as the council 
will need to ensure business rate growth in the future. 

Many retailers are under threat from internet shopping and it is expected that 
department stores will need to adapt further to survive. The acquisition of the property 
provides the council with the opportunity to have a direct involvement in the long term 
future of this site to help ensure the continued economic and regeneration of the town. 
The acquisition would also assist the council to diversify its property holdings and 
manage the overall risk exposure within the portfolio. The council would also secure 
an additional income stream.

(The Chair declared the meeting closed at. 7.33 pm)

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



 Report Template v29.0

Report to: Cabinet 

Date of Meeting: 8th January 2018

Report Title: Youth Council Manifesto

Report By: Monica Adams-Acton
        Assistant Director for Regeneration and Culture

Purpose of Report

To share the Hastings Youth Council manifesto with elected members, to seek support 
from cabinet to back the youth council’s aims and vision.

Recommendation(s)

1. Hastings Borough Council supports the Hastings Youth Council manifesto
2. Hastings Borough Council supports the  Hastings Youth Council’s vision and 

aims for the young people of Hastings

Reasons for Recommendations

Hastings Youth Council is endorsed by Hastings Borough Council, it provides a method 
to actively engage with young people from the borough and help shape policy. The 
aims of the Youth Manifesto are consistent with the council’s own mission statement. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



Report Template v29.0

 

Background

1. Hastings Youth Council was set up in 1998. The council currently allocates 
resources (officer time and meeting venue) and budget to the Hastings Youth 
Council in order to achieve its aims. 

2. Hastings Youth Council is a group run by young people for young people. The 
age range is 13-21 years old or up to 25 years old if they have a disability. 
Currently there are 24 people on the Youth Council.

3. Its aims are:  
o To represent the views and opinions of young people in Hastings & St 

Leonards.
o To influence decisions being made in the town on behalf of those whom 

they consult.
o To provide a forum for young people that enables them to debate and 

consult with the local authority, agencies and politicians.
o To promote a positive public image of young people.
o To actively encourage the personal development of individual youth 

councillors to enable them to become effective representatives. 

4. This current manifesto tackles a wide range of topics affecting young people, 
from mental health to life skills.  The manifesto has been written by the young 
people and demonstrates keen awareness of the issues affecting the young 
people of this town.

5. It was created by young people, locally to represent the views of their peers, and 
was re-drafted and approved by members of Hastings Youth Council at their full 
council meeting on the 22nd November 2017.

6. Some of the recent achievements in the last months include: 
 Being pivotal in the support and delivery of iRock (young mental health 

service in the town) 
 Panel members on the Police Crime and Commission Summit
 Delivery of the Hastings Youth Awards celebrations
 Delivery of World Mental Health day event 
 Key partner organisation for Hastings Pride celebration 
 Involved in Hastings Opportunity Area and visit to Sectary of State for 

Education to discuss current issues for young people
 Coordinating and delivering Hastings Youth Grants 

Wards Affected

ALL

Policy Implications

Page 12



Report Template v29.0

Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following:

Equalities and Community Cohesiveness YES
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17) YES
Risk Management NO
Environmental Issues NO
Economic/Financial Implications NO
Human Rights Act YES
Organisational Consequences YES
Local People’s Views YES
Anti-Poverty YES

Additional Information

Appendix A – Youth Manifesto 

Officer to Contact

Emile Tambeh
Etambeh@hastings.gov.uk
01424 451760

Page 13

mailto:Etambeh@hastings.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Manifesto 2017/2018

Page 15



The Hastings Youth Council Manifesto tackles a wide range of topics affecting young 
people, from mental health to life skills, once again proving that today’s generation of 
young people are far from apathetic about the world they live in.

The aim of the manifesto is to inform and influence local and national decision 
makers, particularly those deciding their manifestos in political parties.

It was created by young people, locally to represent the views of their peers, and 
was approved by Members of Hastings Youth Council at their full council meeting on 
the 22nd November 2017.

Our vision: 

A world where young people are valued equally, listened to and included. Our 
challenge is to make this world a reality. We want to make a difference for all young 
people in Hastings and ensure their needs are met.

Right now, young people in Hastings face inequalities and we need to tackle the 
issues head on through regular campaigning and events.

Page 16



Aims:

Youth representation

We believe that as members of Hastings Youth Council we should consult with 
young people in Hastings and St Leonards to feed their views of local matters back 
to the Youth Council. 

Lobby the Local Authority and key partners

Hastings Youth Council will lobby the local authority, the government and key 
partners to bring about change to benefit young people. 

End child poverty

We believe that no child should live in poverty, that every child matters and deserves 
quality of life

Fair representation of young people in the media 

We believe we need to tackle the unfairly negative portrayal of young people within 
our society; this is evident through the use of stereotypes in the media who label 
young people as thugs or gangs. We should challenge Hastings Observer, Hastings 
Independent Press and social media where young people of Hastings and St 
Leonards are portrayed negatively.

Equality

We believe that all young people regardless of location, upbringing or ethnicity, 
should have equal opportunities in life.

Improving community relations

We believe that more needs to be done between the young and old generations. 
One solution would be to run local workshops to give both generations a chance to 
come together to resolve any issues and help tackle stereotypes.

Alcohol and drug abuse

We believe that all young people should have in depth drug and alcohol abuse 
education through PHSEE lessons in school and there should be more interaction 
between the police and schools to raise awareness. We will therefore support the 
local Alcohol Partnership in any way we can.

Our mental health matters

We believe mental health education should be made compulsory at schools, and this 
should provide information on common clinical conditions including depression and 
challenging stereotypes and the taboo around mental health. We will support World 
Mental Health Day to raise awareness in our town. 

Page 17



Domestic violence

We do not condone or accept domestic violence and will join other organisations in 
promoting Hastings White Ribbon day each year. 

Sexual orientation

Every year we will support and help to run Hastings Pride which celebrates diversity 
in our town. We will promote the need for education around “positive relationships” 
and “healthy sex education” in school lessons. 

Life skills

We want all young people, when they leave education, to have the skills and 
knowledge to equip them into today’s life. We will support providers and campaign 
on this important issue.  Life skills mean to us; financial capability, CV writing, 
interview skills, networking, work experience, problem solving, communication, 
managing online reputation, living independently.

Young people’s achievements

Each year we will recognise organisations that work with young people in our 
community that do a fantastic job and are not always recognised.  Within these 
groups we will also identify young individuals that are either role models or who have 
made a difference to others. Our celebration event will be called Hastings Youth 
Awards.

Youth Grants

We will source and allocate direct funding for young people in our town to provide 
meaningful community activities.

We plan to achieve these aims by attending key stakeholder meetings, engaging and 
being proactive with organisations that provide a young person service. We will 
organise and deliver events as well as supporting others which align with the themes 
outlined within this manifesto. 

The manifesto will be reviewed annually with changes made to reflect the current 
challenges young people face. 

Page 18



 Report Template v29.0

Report to: Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 8 January 2018

Report Title: Hastings Museum strategic development

Report By: Monica Adams-Acton
Assistant Director for Regeneration and Culture

Purpose of Report

To summarise recent strategic and project development at Hastings Museum and 
request support for the next stage of the process.

Recommendation(s)

1. That the council support the proposal to apply for Heritage Lottery Fund 
Resilience funding in order to develop a capital bid.

2. That the budget is amended to take into account the income and expenditure 
involved in the event of a successful bid.

Reasons for Recommendations

To support the development and long-term sustainability of Hastings Museum and Art 
Gallery so that it can contribute fully to the culture-led regeneration of the town and 
quality of life of residents.

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



Report Template v29.0

 

Introduction
Hastings Museum and Art Gallery have been undertaking transformational work 
through its Arts Council England funded Resilience Programme 'Finding Our Place' 
(FOP).

This paper will recap on the findings of the stage 1 project, outline the findings of the 
stage 2 project and make a recommendation on the next steps in the process.

Finding Our Place 1: A New Vision for Hastings Museum and Art 
Gallery

1. Hastings Museum and Art Gallery was awarded £33,000 in 2015-16 from Arts 
Council England's Museum Resilience Fund to undertake a review of the service.

2. The review’s aims were to fully define the museum’s position within its changing 
and challenging operating context and to identify relevant risks, opportunities and 
resources which will enable the museum service to grow and develop its services.

3. It also sought to establish the core purpose of Hastings Museum and Art Gallery’s 
role within the wider cultural offer of Hastings and to formulate a clear and confident 
long term vision to achieve this and to equip the workforce with the skills and 
confidence to meet future challenges.

Report Findings

4. The museum is considered to be in a good position within the local authority, and 
as a result there is little need to fundamentally change the governance of the 
museum. 

5. This positioning also means the museum is well placed to respond to Hastings’ 
regeneration strategies and in particular, the Cultural and Heritage strategies.

6. The museum is an important cultural asset that in telling the story of the history of 
Hastings, holding collections of broader cultural significance and providing varied 
exhibition and activity programmes, complements the wider cultural offer in 
Hastings. 

7. The findings of the review highlight the range of issues that the museum currently 
faces and that will need to be addressed for the museum to move forward and 
transform. The five areas that emerge as key issues are:

 A wide range of problems with the internal and external spaces that combine to 
create a poor physical profile and an inadequate visitor experience

 The lack of coherence in the interpretation of displays and the failure to provide 
different levels of engagement for visitors of all ages and abilities. 

 The staffing levels lack the capacity to develop and deliver a transformative 
programme. 

Page 20



Report Template v29.0

 Income is largely derived from secondary spending in the shop, and by charging 
for additional services such as weddings. There is very limited scope to increase 
income without further physical development of the museum.

 The museum has a low profile and visibility within Hastings, and is poorly 
advertised at key locations in the town. It does not fully utilise on-line media and 
engage in opportunities for joint marketing.

8.  A five-point plan was developed to address these issues (Appendix A). A number 
of the short-term actions have been completed using existing resources. These 
include:

 The appointment of a dedicated Learning Officer.

 The redisplay of the Local History Galleries to include material from the closed 
Old Town Hall Museum.

 The redisplay of the Dinosaur and Ceramics galleries.

 Improved community consultation and data collection.

 Improved internal signage

 An application to ACE Museum Resilience fund for Finding Our Place 2: 
Delivering the Vision

Finding Our Place 2: Delivering the Vision

9. The Museum was again successful in the application to the ACE Museum 
Resilience Fund and was awarded £85,000 for a project to be delivered in the 
period 1 October 2016 to 31 March 2018. 

10. Finding our Place 2 focusses on four areas for improvement identified in the stage 
1 review:

   Improving visibility of the Museum through marketing and promotion

   Audience development and engagement

   Collections review to ensure effective working practices

   Business and project development expertise

11. The marketing intern has been refreshing the museum's social media profile and 
auditing marketing materials and outputs. As she has now left the role the 
remainder of that budget will be used to commission a consultant to write a 
marketing plan for the museum. The plan will build on the work of the marketing 
intern and the visitor data collection work undertaken as part of the Sustainability 
Improvement Plan. The consultant will write the plan and oversee the 
implementation of practical marketing initiatives. 

12. Training has been given to museum staff on data collection and audience 
development to support a deeper understanding of the audience and increase the 
visitor base. A visitor questionnaire was trialled at the 125th birthday event. An 
external facilitator will undertake a consultation with visitors about access to 

Page 21



Report Template v29.0

collections in store; this will take place in November. The development of the visitor 
data collection survey has highlighted for the museum that collecting data about 
their audiences is a priority. It has also underlined the capacity issues within the 
current staffing, because it has been difficult for staff to find time within their roles to 
undertake the surveys and input the data.

13. The Collections Review pilot has been completed and a total of 635 First World 
War items have been catalogued, photographed and reviewed for significance. This 
pilot area was selected to complement Hastings Remembers, an HLF funded 
project commemorating WW1. The social history collections have been identified 
as the next area to be reviewed. The museum staff are working with a consultant to 
deliver a public engagement event, aimed at consulting with the museum visitors 
about the collections’ accessibility. The staff are also working with a range of 
experts to produce significance statements for the collection. The documentation 
review intern is continuing to work on the collection review.

14. The museum curator’s backfill is being used to update and review the museum’s 
policies, procedures and plans for accreditation. The consultant has been working 
closely with museum staff with a particular focus on reviewing and rewriting the 
Forward Plan. As part of this review the project manager delivered a vision 
workshop to museum staff with support from the consultant. The output was an 
agreed vision, set of values and strategic objectives. 

15. A consultant has been appointed to undertake the consultation with the Museum 
Association (friends of the museum) to ascertain how they perceive their future 
involvement with the museum. 

16. A draft Business Development Plan has now been produced. This will be closely 
linked to the Museum's Forward Plan which is also in draft form, and will cover the 
period 2018 -2021 (parts 1-3 in Appendix B).

Next Steps

17. Underlying both FOP 1 and 2 is an ambitious vision for the museum, articulated in 
the draft Forward Plan as;

"Hastings Museum and Art Gallery is a museum that is creative, excellent, relevant, 
visible and viable for the people of Hastings."

This cannot be achieved solely through efficiencies and short term actions, and 
both reports highlight the need for more significant development in the medium 
term.  

18. Key to this will be the next stage of capital development for the museum site 
delivered through a major bid to the Heritage Lottery Fund.  This is all the more 
relevant in light of the White Rock Masterplan which highlights the role of the 
museum as a cultural gateway.  Developing a major capital bid is outside the 
capacity of the existing staff and additional support will be needed.

19. The Forward Plan also identifies the need for more support to deliver ambitions 
around income generation and the other strategic objectives (see Appendix B).

Page 22



Report Template v29.0

20. The proposal is to apply to the Heritage Lottery Fund's Resilient Heritage scheme 
for support for the next stage of the journey.  The bid will be for between £80,000 
and £90,000.  The scheme does not require cash match for bids of this size.  
Support in kind is needed, but to no specific percentage.

21. A key aim of the stage 3 project will be to develop and submit the HLF capital bid.  
The stage 3 project will also aim investigate new approaches to income generation 
and engagement with existing and potential audiences.

22. Applications to the Heritage Lottery Fund's Resilient Heritage scheme can be made 
at any time. It is expected that the application will follow the completion of the 
current Finding our Place project.

23. It is too early in the process to complete a detailed project plan for the HLF 
Resilience bid as it will be informed by the final FOP2 report.  The anticipated 
timeframe for the HLF Resilience project is to begin the bid process in March or 
April with a view to starting the project in September 2018. The delivery will then be 
for 18-24 months.

Recommendation

24. That the council supports the proposal to apply for HLF Resilience funding.

Wards Affected

Castle

Policy Implications

Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following:

Equalities and Community Cohesiveness x
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17)
Risk Management
Environmental Issues
Economic/Financial Implications
Human Rights Act
Organisational Consequences
Local People’s Views x
Anti-Poverty

Additional Information

Appendix A – Finding Our Place 1 5 Point Plan
Appendix B – Finding Our Place 2 Draft Forward Plan

Officer to Contact

Officer Name: Polly Gifford
Officer Email Address pgifford@hastings.gov.uk
Officer Telephone Number 01424 451785

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 25



A Five Point Plan for Transforming Hastings Museum and Art Gallery

No Priority Area Proposed Solution Projected Cost Timescale

1. Creating an Outstanding Offer:
Transforming the Visitor Experience

The ACE funded 2015 Spatial Review identified a 
plethora of problems with both external and internal 
spaces that combine to create a poor physical profile 
and an inadequate visitor experience.

There are currently insufficient and inappropriate 
spaces for core functions, public programming, 
accessible and income generating facilities and 
effective circulation.

Until the overall offer is substantially improved, the 
museum’s potential is severely circumscribed.
 

The Spatial Review identifies an optimum, long-
term solution for transforming the museum’s 
spaces. It proposes the addition of a two-floor 
extension to the front of the 2006-07 
extensions, a café on the roof and reorienting 
the entrance to the south façade. It provides a 
learning space, a destination café with far-
reaching views of the town and the sea; equal 
access to disabled and able bodied visitors and 
improved visitor flow around the galleries. It 
delivers an impressive double height entrance 
and brings out the history and character of the 
house by opening up windows and rooms. It 
will provide a canvas for the redisplay and 
reinterpretation of the collections. 

The delivery of this vision requires a major HLF 
grant and an associated fundraising 
programme.

In the region of £6m

An HLF grant app. of 
approx. £5.2m would 
be required.

£800k would need to 
be sourced through 
other trusts, 
foundations and 
fundraising

Seek more rigorous 
costing from architect 

1) Initial application 
lead in of 12 months 
(if dedicated funding 
allocated) 

2) HLF Development 
Phase of 16 months

3) Two year delivery 
phase, dependent on 
planning

2. Creating an Outstanding Offer:
A High Quality Public Programme

Major improvements to the interpretation and display 
of the collections are required. The museum needs an 
exciting and engaging suite of galleries which capture 
the public imagination and do justice to its 
outstanding collections and the town’s remarkable 

i) Development of a holistic interpretation 
strategy which provides a progressive and 
imaginative framework for both collections and 
social history stories. This will require external 
expertise and internal visioning, grant funded 

£7-8,000 By December 2016

P
age 26



No Priority Area Proposed Solution Projected Cost Timescale

history. 

Currently, the interpretation lacks coherence, depth 
and creativity. It fails to provide different levels of 
engagement for visitors of different ages or abilities 
and there is no clear introductory or welcome area 
with a general overview of the museum and its 
collections. Way finding around the museum is 
complicated and confusing. Access is not equal, as 
different routes have to be taken by able and disabled 
visitors.

Although there is some temporary exhibition 
programming, there is scope to frame a more 
ambitious programme which will attract a 
substantially higher footfall and raise the regional 
profile of the museum. 

by ACE strategic funds or similar.
This will constitute a foundation stone of any 
Stage 1 HLF bidding process.
A collections review process will be contingent 
on interpretation decisions.

ii) A complete redisplay of existing galleries and 
new spaces created through the HLF funded 
New Vision project. The design and fit out costs 
are integral to the projected £6m ballpark 
estimation

iii) Ensure the specifications for refurbished 
temporary exhibition spaces conforms to 
Government Indemnity Standards so high 
impact national touring exhibitions and high 
status spotlight loans from national collections 
can be secured, to generate raised profile and 
increased visits.

Inclusive to Priority 1

Inclusive to Priority 1

Stage 1 submission 
2017

Stage 1 submission 
2017

3. A strong, skilled team with capacity to 
deliver a transformative programme

The staffing structure is lean and currently there are 
insufficient human resources to develop and deliver a 
transformative programme.

Curatorial skills are strong but the following would be 
required to deliver substantial change, beyond 
current operations:

- An assessment of the skills mix across the current 
team (including skills within the management 
committee), so the existing team can be developed to 
meet need where feasible. This is likely to include 

i) Implementation of self-assessment 
programme such as Survive & Thrive. Seek 
experienced mentor for stipend remuneration.

ii) Targeted skills development for internal 
team based on needs identified during self-
assessment. Cost constitutes a projected 
allowance.

iii) Develop role description for project 
development officer; can be contract or PAYE

£600

£400

£0

£16,000

By Oct 2016

By Dec 2016

By July 2016

TBC

P
age 27



No Priority Area Proposed Solution Projected Cost Timescale

leadership, project management and advocacy skills

-   Grant funded project development expertise in 
relation to capital works, interpretation and business 
planning 

- Dedicated community engagement and learning 
resource, potentially through reconfiguring the 
existing structure, but potentially further supported 
on fixed term contract basis through grant aid

iv) Seek internal or grant funding for project 
development role - ACE strategic? Minimum 12-
month commitment for p/t role.

v) Integrate specialist roles into HLF Round 1 
bid.

vi) Review structure in line with interim report 
recommendations and commit to changes.

TBC

£0

Submission 2017

July 2016

4. Income generation through a focused 
fundraising strategy and a properly 
constituted fundraising vehicle

Entry to the museum is free for all visitors, and 
therefore income is generated from secondary 
spending, principally in the shop, and by charging for 
additional services such as weddings in the Durbar 
Hall.  
The profit generated from these activities in 2014-
2015 was £15,957 (including sales made at the now-
closed Old Town Museum) with income from the 
wedding ceremonies contributing £7,841, almost half 
of the profit.

There is clear scope to improve income generation if 
the overall offer is improved as above but additionally 
there is potential to adopt a more strategic and 
focused approach to fundraising through external 
expertise for strategy setting and the formation of a 
properly constituted body specifically focused on 
fundraising.

This will require initial investment. Many museums 

Given the research and assessment undertaken 
to date and Hastings demographic potential, the 
strategy should focus on:

i) On site giving
ii) A membership scheme, modelled from or 
within the existing Association
iii) Fundraising from trusts and foundations to 
support the capital project

The transformation project should be scoped as 
a priority and a fundraising strategy and 
activity modelled around agreed capital 
aspirations

£2k for onsite 
improvements 

£8k for strategy 
development

£5k for support to 
establish a fundraising 
CIO if desired

By Dec 2016

2017

2018

P
age 28



No Priority Area Proposed Solution Projected Cost Timescale

have undertaken this work with the support of 
strategic funds.

5. A professional, properly resourced 
approach to marketing

The museum has a low profile and visibility within 
Hastings, potential visitors have no idea that there is a 
museum and where it is located. The museum is 
poorly advertised at key locations (train and bus 
station, other cultural venues and in the town centre), 
does not utilise on-line media fully and has a website 
that is seen as unappealing. It also does not 
participate in joint heritage promotions or use 
opportunities to advertise at community locations. 
The branding of the museum does not reinforce the 
profile of the museum. 

i) Apply for ACE strategic funds to develop a 
professional marketing and PR 
approach/toolkit that can be sustained within 
the existing team

ii) Roll out some marketing initiative pilots and 
fully evaluate for impact

£6k

£4k

Dependent on ACE 
funding

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Hastings Museum & Art Gallery 
Draft Forward Plan/Business Development Plan 
2018 – 2021 

Contents 
1. Hastings Museum and Art Gallery context 
2. Vision, values, 
3. Strategic aims 
4. Strategic objectives 
5. Action plan 
6. Financial Plan 
7. Performance Indicators 
8. Monitoring and Review 

----- 
Appendices 
1. Strategic context 
2. Situational analysis PESTLE and SWOT 
3. Market analysis 
4. Review of previous forward plan 
5. Governance, management & staff 
6. Finding Our Place (2015-2017 and 2017-2018) project overview 
7. others 

Page 31



1. Hastings Museum and Art Gallery context 

1.1 Background 

1.1.1 The Hastings and St Leonards Museum Association founded Hastings 

Museum in 1890, and in 1905 ownership was transferred to Hastings Borough 

Council. The constitution of the Museum is embodied in the deed of transfer. 

 1.1.2 The Museum Committee governs the Museum; it is an advisory Committee of 

the Cabinet of Hastings Borough Council and consists of 9 elected members, one of 

whom is chair, and 6 Members of the Hastings and St Leonards Museum 

Association (see Appendix 5). The original remit of the Committee was restricted to 

matters relating to the collections, but this was widened to include management of 

the Museum in 1990. 

1.1.3 The Museum was first housed in the Brassey Institute, but moved to its current 

site in 1928. The Durbar Hall, originally constructed as an Indian palace for the 

Indian and Colonial Exhibition of 1886, and Long Gallery were added in 1930-32. 

 1.1.4 A major refurbishment took place in 2006-7 funded by the Heritage Lottery 

Fund and Hastings Borough Council, which expanded the floor space by 40%, 

improved access and facilities and introduced environmental control and monitoring. 

Subsequently, in 2015, the Museum commissioned an architect to analyse and 

appraise the spatial effectiveness of the building. The options appraisal outlined the 

reconfiguration of the building to improve facilities and the visitor experience and 

provide a café and dedicated learning space. 

 1.1.5 The collections of the Museum are large and diverse, and include Fine Art, 

Page 32



Ceramics, Local History, Archives, Natural History, Geology, Native American and 

World Collections. Reserve collections are currently stored on-site and off-site at the 

Borough Council’s Castleham archive. 

 1.1.6 The Museum employs 6 FTE staff and has 4 regular volunteers (see Appendix 

5) 

1.1.7 In 2015 the Museum secured £33,000 Arts Council England funding for Finding 

Our Place: A new vision for Hastings Museum and Art Gallery to develop a 

sustainable future for the Museum. In 2017 the Museum received a second award to 

further this work (see Appendix 6). The extensive staff and stakeholder 

consultation, and the business review undertaken as part of this project, has 

informed the development of this Plan. 

 1.2 Strategic context 

1.2.1 The Museum is part of the Hasting Borough Council’s Culture and 
Regeneration 

Directorate, and works within the context of a number of local strategies (see 
Appendix 1). 

The Museum is well placed to respond to the Council’s vision for Hastings in the 
Corporate Plan, “Hastings will be recognised as an international centre of excellence 
for cultural and scientific creativity...”, and to support the mission to improve “the 
quality of life and wellbeing of all of its residents”. By 2019 the council wants to 
ensure “culture and leisure deliver both social and economic benefits”, whilst also 
acknowledging they face a massive funding gap, and income generation is a major 
priority, putting “a more commercial approach at the centre of everything we do”. The 
Museum has one key performance indicator, under ‘Driving Economic Growth’, an 
increased number of visitors. 

The Museum already undertakes community engagement work, and recognizes that 
is has a role to play in the health, well-being and quality of life of the local 
community. It provides a free and welcoming community space with wonderful and 

Page 33



stimulating collections to engage and support a wide range of people and partner 
groups, including disadvantaged people. 

The Museum has the content and the location to respond to: 

 The Hastings Culture-Led Regeneration Strategy objective to ‘Support social 
engagement and community cohesion through accessible and diverse cultural 
activity’. 

 The Sustainable Community Strategy aim to ‘bring the quality of life for people 
in the most deprived parts of Hastings & St Leonards up to those of the rest of 
the town, and the town up to county and national averages’. (It identifies 
cultural activity as being an important part of this, supporting volunteers, 
pushing up satisfaction with the local area, bringing people from different 
backgrounds together, and helping educational attainment, including lifelong 
learning. 

 The East Sussex Integrated Sustainable Community Strategy ‘Pride of Place’ 
– which focuses on improving quality of life, sense of belonging, the well-
being of older people and mental health. 

 The White Rock Area Masterplan.

1.2.2 HMAG is facing levels of change and uncertainty in the foreseeable future and 

is aware of its abilities to take on opportunities and threats (see Appendix 2), and 

the market in which it is working (see Appendix 3). 

 1.2.3 HMAG is an Accredited Museum (last Accreditation award, November 2015, 

from Arts Council England). As an Accredited Museum, it is committed to delivering 

a museum service that meets the national standard; and to maintaining the required 

policies, plans and procedures. This Forward Plan is informed by, and endorses, the 

Museum’s Environmental Sustainability statement; The Collections Development 

Policy; Documentation Policy and Plan; Collections Care and Conservation Policy, 

and Plan; Access Policy statement; Learning Policy; Volunteer Policy. 

Page 34



 

1.2.4 HMAG works within the context of its approved Forward Plan, and the ACE 

funded Finding Our Place action plan. Progress against the last Forward Plan (2014-

9) is reviewed at Appendix 4, and against the Finding Our Place 1 action plan, is 

reviewed at Appendix 6. 

 2. Vision and values 

2.1 Vision 

HMAG is a museum that is creative, excellent, relevant, visible and viable for the 

people of Hastings and beyond. 

2.2 Values 

We: 

 Reflect the rich and unique character of Hastings and St Leonards, its people 
and environment 

 Provide the opportunity for learning and understanding of our history and 
heritage 

 Provide exceptional customer case to all who visit and work with us 
 Communicate effectively to increase awareness of what we do 
 Demonstrate excellence in caring for, interpreting and sharing our collections 
 To be viable in the way we conduct our business 
 Develop and maintain successful partnerships with international, national, 
 region and local cultural partners 
 Maintain relevance to our local communities 


2.3 Statement of Purpose 

The Museum aims to fulfil its core role in the preservation, collection, documentation 

and interpretation of the collections associated with the history and natural history of 

the area, the fine arts and from a wider cultural context. Visitors and other users will 

be at the heart of what we do, and we believe that our collections have the power to 

educate and inspire people of all ages, backgrounds and abilities, and the local 

communities we serve. 

Page 35



3. Strategic aims 

The following key aims relate to the HBC Corporate Plan and to aims identified in the 

Museum’s previous Forward Plan (20014-19) where they remain relevant for the 

future. It is noted that an overarching aim is to equip the Museum staff with the 

skills, confidence and resources to deliver this Plan. 

 Strategic Aim 1: Meet Corporate objectives 

 Grow HMAG’s profile as a museum that is creative, excellent, relevant, visible 
and viable for the people of Hastings, locally, regionally, nationally and 
internationally. 

 Increase number of visitors (actioned under Strategic Aim 2). 
 Deliver social and economic benefits for residents (actioned under Strategic 

Aim 2 and 3). 
 Be more commercial (actioned under Strategic Aim 2 and 3). 

Strategic Aim 2: Increase the Museum’s users through a deeper understanding 

of its audience and non-users 

 Understand who our current visitors and users are. 
 Understand the nature of non-users and barriers to engagement with 

Museum. 
 Use market research to inform programming/product development. 
 Develop and deliver a marketing plan that attracts additional visitors and 

users. 
 Deliver programming that contributes to the health, well-being and quality of 

life of the local community. 

Strategic Aim 3: Be viable, and be recognised for economic and social 

contributions to local economy 

 Assess and develop an option for a separate organisational vehicle to 
fundraise and hold generated funds for the Museum’s good. 

 Develop and deliver an HLF funded ‘Transformation’ project to deliver the 
approved vehicle and viable business plan for income generation. 

 Assess the Museum’s social and economic contributions (direct and indirect) 
to the Borough, and ensure the Museum’s contribution to the local economy is 

Page 36



understood by stakeholders through provision of evidence-based advocacy. 
 Continue to deliver income generation activities, to contribute to the 

Museum’s costs, until the Moving Forward project completes. 

Strategic Aim 4: Improve the Museum’s facilities and enhance the visitor 

experience 

 Ensure the Museum’s facilities are maintained to support and enhance the 
HMAG brand. 

 Deliver effective customer care to support and enhance the HMAG brand. 
 Use the ‘Moving Forward’ project (Strategic Aim 3) to develop and submit an 

HLF bid for the new extension with café and improved facilities. 

Strategic Aim 5: Improve the physical and intellectual access to collections 

through an integrated approach to collections and access 

 Maintain Museum Accreditation 
 Deliver exhibitions and programming that excite and engage visitors with 

the Museum’s collections 
 Ensure that collections are effectively cared for and managed, so that they 

can be fully utilised by staff, visitors and users 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 Report Template v29.0

Report to: Cabinet 

Date of Meeting: 8th January 2018

Report Title: Lifeguard Service

Report By: Monica Adams-Acton
        Assistant Director for Regeneration and Culture

Purpose of Report

To recommend to cabinet that the RNLI (‘Royal National Lifeboat Institution’) be 
appointed to operate the Hastings’ beach lifeguard service for three years (the 2018, 
2019 and 2020 seasons) and ask cabinet for authority to appoint the RNLI without 
going through the competitive tendering procedures 

Recommendation(s)

1. That a three year contract with the RNLI to provide our beach lifeguard 
service covering the 2018, 2019 and 2020 seasons is entered into, and they 
are appointed without going through the competitive tendering procedures

2. That authority is delegated to the director of operational services or his 
nominee, in consultation with the lead member responsible for resort 
services and the chair of the charity committee, to conclude the necessary 
legal agreements.

Reasons for Recommendations

Because the RNLI, the ‘gold standard’ of lifesaving at sea, is able to provide a better 
service at a lower cost than we can provide in-house, whilst paying the lifeguards more 
than we were paying them when the service was operated in-house.

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



Report Template v29.0

 

Introduction

1. Until the end of the summer 2016 season, Hastings Borough Council and the 
Foreshore Trust operated an in-house seasonal lifeguard service.

2. For its meeting on 20th March 2017, the charity committee received a paper which 
explained that following changes to the management of the team in early 2017, it 
was necessary for the council and trust to make interim arrangements for the 
upcoming summer season. The charity committee resolved (unanimously) that the 
council and Foreshore Trust enter into a one season agreement with the RNLI for 
the RNLI to provide a beach lifeguard service at Hastings for the 2017 season, this 
operation to be reviewed at the end of the season. The purpose of this paper is to 
outline this year’s operation, and consider the future operation of the service

2017 Season

3. Overall the RNLI lifeguards attended 88 incidents during the 2017 summer, 34 at 
Marina, 18 at Pelham West, and 36 at Pelham East. Seven of these were classified 
as ‘casualty care’, when the casualty has their vital signs assessed and drugs may 
have been administered, and they have the potential for illnesses and injuries that 
could be life threatening

4. The RNLI provided their service for an estimated £40 000 (subject to final invoice 
being received) for the 2017 season, for providing an enhanced service over that 
which HBC provided in 2016. On a ‘like for like’ basis the RNLI charged £27 183, 
which included training, supervision and management, against an HBC figure of 
c£54 000 in 2016, which did not include supervision or management. In 2016 HBC 
paid an additional c£7 500 for training, induction and supervision from our lifeguard 
consultant. The RNLI also provided, at no cost to HBC, new accommodation and 
equipment for the lifeguards in 2017. It should be noted that the RNLI pay their staff 
at a higher hourly rate than HBC did, even allowing for pay increases.

2018 Season

5. For next year, we are looking to increase our lifeguard provision. This would include 
starting earlier at all three sites (w/c 26th May), so bringing the dates of operation of 
the pier and Marina sites in line with those at Pelham. The total cost to HBC of this 
operation is £43 488 (based on this year’s level of operation the cost would have 
been £37 332).

6. It should be noted that, even with us providing a longer season, particularly at the 
pier and Marina, the costs are c£10 000 lower than we paid in 2016. In addition, the 
RNLI provide accommodation at Pelham and the pier at no additional cost to us, 
and a very high standard of lifeguard equipment. As noted above, they provide 
excellent training and specialist management support, and are widely seen as 
providing the ‘gold standard’ of lifeguarding operation.

Page 40



Report Template v29.0

7. The RNLI have indicated that, given the level of investment they are providing, they 
would like to enter into a three year agreement with us to provide our beach 
lifeguarding service. Such an agreement would also provide us with certainty of 
operation.

8. Ordinarily, our financial operating procedures requires us to tender for contracts 
over £50 000. However, there is provision within the procedures (paragraph 21, 
clause j) for derogation from this requirement if expressly approved by cabinet on 
consideration of a report from an authorised officer. The RNLI, a national charity 
dedicated to lifesaving at sea, provides the ‘gold standard’ of lifeguarding, and 
manages beach lifeguarding services for many local authorities around the country. 
It is able to provide a better service at a lower cost than we can offer in-house, 
whilst paying the lifeguards more than we were paying them when the service was 
operated by Hastings Borough Council. The RNLI now operate lifeguarding at 
Camber Sands and Bexhill on behalf of Rother District Council, and Hastings fits 
well into this local structure; this helps provide additional resilience for the Hastings 
service. The RNLI also operates Hastings lifeboat station, of course. It is therefore 
recommended that the RNLI be appointed to operate the Hastings lifeguarding 
service for the 2018, 2019 and 2020 seasons. 

Timetable

9. Agreement in principle with the RNLI to operate the service for the next three years 
has already been sought, and the charity committee agreed at its meeting on 11th 
December to appoint the RNLI, subject to cabinet agreement. If cabinet agrees the 
recommendation to appoint the RNLI, contracts will be drawn up before the end of 
March, allowing the service to start w/c 26th May 2018, as indicated in the report.

Recommendation

10. That a three year contract with the RNLI to provide our beach lifeguard service 
covering the 2018, 2019 and 2020 seasons is entered into, and they are appointed 
without going through the competitive tendering procedures 

_____________________________________________________________________

Wards Affected

All (indirectly)

Policy Implications

Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following:

Equalities and Community Cohesiveness
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17)
Risk Management X
Environmental Issues X
Economic/Financial Implications X

Page 41



Report Template v29.0

Human Rights Act
Organisational Consequences X
Local People’s Views
Anti-Poverty

Additional Information

Officer to Contact

Officer Name : Kevin Boorman
Officer Email Address : kboorman@hastings.gov.uk
Officer Telephone Number Ext 1123

Page 42



 Report Template v29.0

Report to: Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 8 January 2018

Report Title: Proposal for Local Nature Reserves

Report By: Mike Hepworth, Assistant Director, Environment and Place

Purpose of Report

To seek approval to proceed with the legal process for declaring Ponds Wood Local 
Wildlife Site a Local Nature Reserve, and extending the boundary of Churchwood Local 
Nature Reserve to include the area known as Robsack Meadow

Recommendation(s)

1. Delegate authority to the Assistant Director of Environment and Place and 
the Chief Legal Officer to proceed with the legal process for Local Nature 
Reserve declaration of Ponds Wood and the extension of Churchwood Local 
Nature Reserve, under Section 21 of the National Parks and Access to the 
Countryside Act 1949 (as amended), and;

2. Publish a declaration notice in the local press and on the council’s web site 
to allow the public to inspect the declaration and the boundary map free of 
charge and send a copy of the declaration to Natural England.

Reasons for Recommendations

The council has had a long standing ambition to declare Ponds Wood a Local Nature 
Reserve and to extend the boundary of Churchwood Local Nature Reserve to include 
the area known as Robsack Meadow.

Page 43

Agenda Item 8



Report Template v29.0

 

Introduction

1. Hastings Borough Council owns all of Ponds Wood (5.7 hectares) and Churchwood 
as marked on the attached maps, Appendix 1 and Appendix 2.  

2. By declaring Ponds Wood a Local Nature Reserve (LNR) and by extending 
Churchwood LNR to include Robsack meadow, the council are further 
demonstrating their commitment to safeguarding biodiversity and important habitats 
in the Borough for future generations.

3. A LNR is a statutory designation made by Local Authorities under Section 21 of the 
National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949, and amended by 
Schedule 11 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006.

4. Natural England as a statutory consultee has been consulted and supports the 
proposed designation of Ponds Wood and extension of Churchwood.  

5. Following the Cabinet's consideration of the proposals, it is proposed that the 
council should complete the legal process and public consultation by advertising 
the proposals in the appropriate local journal, and registering the declaration with 
Natural England.

Background

6. Ponds Wood was transferred to the council as part of the Section 106 Legal 
Agreement from the planning permission issued for the housing development at 
Celandine Drive and Arbourvale, with the obligation to declare the land a LNR.

7. Ponds Wood is ancient semi-natural woodland with stream side habitats.  The site 
provides easy access for local residents to experience a high quality natural asset 
in the midst of the urban environment.  

8. Once declared, Ponds Wood Local Nature Reserve will be the eighth LNR in the 
Borough.

9. The area known as Robsack Meadow was originally excluded from the 
Churchwood LNR declaration on the basis that it was allocated as a housing site in 
the Local Plan.  Following the inspectors recommendations into the 2015 Local 
Plan, Robsack Meadow was removed as a development allocation.  

10. The proposal is now therefore to extend the boundary of Churchwood LNR to 
include the Robsack Meadow area.

Local Nature Reserves in the Borough of Hastings

11. There are seven LNRs in the borough of Hastings. Three in the west of the 
borough; Filsham Reedbed, Marline Valley, Churchwood; three in central Hastings 
at Old Roar Gill, St Helens Wood and Summerfields and one in the east of the 
borough; Hastings Country Park Nature Reserve.

Page 44



Report Template v29.0

12. The high number of LNRs in a small borough the size of Hastings is further 
demonstration that the council values its local habitats as places for wildlife and 
people to enjoy.

Procedure for Local Nature Reserve Declaration 

13. Section 21 of the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 gives 
local authorities the responsibility and power to acquire, declare and manage 
nature reserves. 

14. The legal process has been conducted by our legal services. 

15. Natural England is a statutory consultee and has been consulted.  They fully 
support the proposals.

16. LNR declaration guidance states we should put an advert announcing the LNR in a 
local paper and allow the public to inspect the declaration and the boundary map 
free of charge.  A copy of the press notice will also be available on the council’s 
website.  The press notice is for public information and is not the commencement of 
public consultation.

17. The press notice has been drafted and will be published if Cabinet approves these 
proposals.

Financial and Management Implications  

18. The council is developing a Strategic Local Nature Reserve Management Plan to 
establish top level management priorities for all our LNRs.  This is a more effective 
management tool than having eight separate plans for each reserve.  

19. All management will be undertaken using existing budgets.  No additional funds are 
required.  The council will continue to support community groups and voluntary 
groups to manage and access the sites.

20. Ponds Wood is ancient woodland.  The management plan will prioritise natural 
regeneration of the ancient woodland stock and prioritise public safety.

21. Robsack is no longer a meadow habitat; it is regenerating woodland from the 
ancient woodland stock of the surrounding Churchwood LNR.  The management 
plan will prioritise this natural regeneration process.  

Wards Affected

Wishing Tree; Maze Hill; West St Leonards; Hollington

Policy Implications

Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following:

Equalities and Community Cohesiveness No
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17) No
Risk Management No

Page 45



Report Template v29.0

Environmental Issues Yes
Economic/Financial Implications No
Human Rights Act No
Organisational Consequences No
Local People’s Views Yes
Anti-Poverty No

Additional Information

Officer to Contact

Officer Name Murray Davidson
Officer Email Address mdavidson@hastings.gov.uk
Officer Telephone Number 451107

Page 46



THE

RI
SE

CLOSE

COURT

CHURCH

SUTTONS

DENHAM
GARDENSINGLESIDE

ASHDOWN REDGELAND

BE
DG

EB
UR

Y

BR
UN

EL
 R

OA
D

KENSINGTON

SILVAN ROAD

SQUIRREL CLOSE

CUBITT WAY
PAXHILL CLOSE PARSONS CLOSE

WOOD DRIVE

IRONLATCH CLOSE

SALCEY CLOSE

HOWLETT CLOSE

FREWYN CLOSE

IRONLATCH AVENUE

WA
RT

LIN
G 

CL
OS

E

CROWHURST ROAD

RADNOR MEWS

HIGHFIELD DRIVE

ROBSACK AVENUE

AD
AM

 CL
OS

E

CH
UR

CH
 W

OO
D W

AY

SW
AL

LO
W 

BA
NK

CH
UR

CH
 W

OO
D 

DR
IVE

TILE BARN ROAD

CHAMBERS ROAD

WARTLING GARDENS

BODIAM DRIVE

WHITTLEWOOD CLOSE

WI
SH

IN
G 

TR
EE

 R
OA

D

INGLEWOOD GARDENS

ARMSTRONG CLOSE

CH
UR

CH
 IN

 TH
E W

OO
D 

LA
NE

GILLSMAN'S DRIVE

TEAL

RAVEN

ME
WS

La
ure

l W
alk

TREE

PIN
EW

OO
D 

WA
Y

WA
RW

IC
K 

PL
AC

E

WREN COURT

JUNIPER CLOSE

WISHING TREE ROAD
RISE

CHURCH WOOD DRIVE

PARSONS CLOSE

CHURCH WOOD DRIVE

HO
WLE

TT
 CL

OS
E

IR
ON

LA
TC

H A
VE

NU
E

CLOSE

CLOSE

CLOSE

ROBSACK AVENUE

CHURCH WOOD DRIVE

COURT

CLOSE

CROWHURST ROAD

PARSONS CLOSE

RO
BS

AC
K A

VE
NU

E

CHURCH WOOD DRIVE

Churchwood and Robsack Local Nature Reserve
Local Nature Reserve Proposed Extension
Existing Local Nature Reserve

±

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



HI
LL

RIS
E

LARCH

CLOSE

DR
IVE BLUEBELLWESLEY

DELL CLOSE

CELANDINE

SALMON

TH
E G

RE
EN

REDGELAND

DRURY LANE

FE
RN

 RO
AD

FORD ROAD

STONE COURT

FAIRMOUNT

AR
BO

UR
VA

LEDOUCEGROVE

IRONLATCH CLOSE

FERNSIDE AVENUE

IRONLATCH AVENUE

HORSE
SH

OE C
LO

SE

HO
LL

IN
GT

ON
 C

OU
RT

WI
NG

AT
E C

LO
SE

GILLSMANS HILL

SP
RIN

GS
IDE

 W
AL

K
CH

UR
CH

 W
OO

D W
AY

GILLSMAN'S HILL

SW
AL

LO
W 

BA
NK MENZIES ROAD

STONEHOUSE DRIVE

CHAMBERS ROAD

HO
LLY

BA
NK

 GA
RD

EN
S

GILL
SMAN'S PARK

HOLLINGTON PARK CLOSE

EL
IZA

BE
TH

 R
OA

D

AVONDALE ROAD

BL
AC

KM
AN

 AV
EN

UE

MARLBOROUGH CLOSE

HO
LL

IN
GT

ON
 PA

RK
 R

OA
D

SY
CA

MO
RE

 C
LO

SE
GILLSMAN'S DRIVE

LIME

Co
wd

en
 W

alk

TREE

DRAPERS WAY

SO
UT

HW
OO

D 
CL

OS
E

BL
AC

KM
AN

 AV
EN

UE

ARBOURVALE

DRURY LANE

GILLSMANS HILL

RISE

DRIVE

FE
RN ROAD CL

OS
E

CLOSE

IR
ON

LA
TC

H A
VE

NU
E

MENZIES ROAD

5

1

9

3

7

8

2 4

6

Factory

Warehouse

WorksDepot

Court Stone

Iris

House

11

Chameleon

Tremlon House

Lilac

Rose

Oak

31
21

17

30

43

19

20

22

61

25
27

6a23

15

59

26
8a

13

46

12

10

65

35

66

37

58

24

75

16

53

57

45

40

80

83

36
67

47
29

64

81

28

41

18

39

44

77

14

74

33

49

90
32

87

42

91

68

69

97

1a

71

84

72

86

70

94

51

95
99

Clinic

Violet

Helena

Terrace Ooty

Primrose

Dumfries

Balmoral

114 112

211 118
116

Heather

Cromaty

Rectory

Lavendar

Westerleigh

Arbroath

Buttercup

12a

13
2

13a

14
a

126

15
5

225

20
3

21
5

16
2

200

15
8

16
0

195

15
2 121

14
8

178

14
0

100

154
166

147

22
6

228

16
7

14
6

130
141

153
159

14
5

23
7

125

102

188

22
1 142

22
0

22
3

120

12b

224

207

249

175

171

15
7

22
7

13
8

183

20
5

22a

10a

Val Mascal

Manorhouse

Mulberry House

Lime

22
5a

1 to 6

Simar

Satori

1 to 17

1 to 98

1 to 25

Centre

Helios

Avondale

Cottage

Amberley

Olive Lodge

Robinswood

Kennedy Court

Ametrine House

The Garden House

1

15

7

2

46

6

7

14
8

Factory

719

1

45

23

5

24

9

35

102

46

6

1

15
3

12

9

18

8

8

1

28

2

6

8a

1

2

1

Westerleigh

19

10

14

1

Cottage

61

8

10

7

17

5

20

7

1

2
12

12

Depot

7

8

39

1

32

Factory

9

2

5

1

32

37

32

1

11

8

24
7

30

10

45 16

15

3

8

11

37

25

3

Wa
reh

ou
se

16

1

17

12

10

4

10
100

10

33

1

12

Depot

14

5

4

64

49

9

66

4

8

20

31

Depot

31

72

1

45

53

21

81

1a

23

7

10

57

Factory

1

23

15

1

Factory

25

27

3

3

1

8

Depot

7

2

7

2

12

12 28
3

16

1

4

15

12

10

1

25

12 14

11

15
8

7

11

2

19

Works

1 14

1 to 17

Factory

2

10

22

1

Works

1

31

6

11

8

61

23

10

5

8

7

Court

3

9

5

20

5

6

22a

32

22

17

1

18
3

10

2

25

13

94

2

23

25

10

17

4

Factory

47

20

12

24

11

1

1

16

17

1

40

4

3

1

23

4

45

2

3

58

Factory

27

1

6

Works

27

81

3

20

22

37

1

36

2

1

4

26

2

4

24

PONDS WOOD LNR DESIGNATION PLAN

May 2017 ST 2414c

±
© Crown Copyright and database right [2013]. Ordnance Survey [100021328]

1:3,500Date: Scale:

Environment and Natural Resources Manager
Murray Davidson
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place,
Hastings, East Sussex TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451107

Drawn: Drawing No:

Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are 
granted a non-exclusive, royalty free, revocable licence solely
to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial purposes for
the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it 
available. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, 
distribute, sell or otherwise make available the Licenced Data 
to third parties in any form.  Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



MUSEUMS COMMITTEE

27 NOVEMBER 2017

CAB. 1

Present: Councillors Forward (Chair), Bacon (Vice-Chair), Howard, Patmore, 
Sinden, Street, Edwards 

Museum Association Representatives:  Mrs Barrett, Mrs Purdey, Mr Peak and 
Mr Palfrey-Martin

105. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were noted from Councillor Cartwright and Geoffrey 
Dudman.

106. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

None.

107. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 11 SEPTEMBER 2017 

RESOLVED – that the minutes of the meeting held on 11 September 2017 
be approved and signed by the Chair as a correct record. 

108. NOTIFICATION OF ADDITIONAL URGENT ITEMS 

With the agreement of the Chair, the Committee agreed the Curator report on an 
additional three acquisitions received after the agenda was published.

109. CURATOR'S REPORT 

The Curator presented a report which updated the committee on issues arising from 
previous meetings and subsequent actions that had been taken.

It was noted that the Curator’s report will in future include matters which reoccur more 
regularly such as attendance figures, exhibitions and events information.  The loan 
requests; acquisitions and resilience project will remain as separate report items. 

The following items from the museum’s collection have been reproduced.
Photograph of Robert Tressell for new Penguin Random House edition of the ‘The 
Ragged Trousered Philanthropists, and the coloured lithograph of birds-eye view of St. 
Leonards to be published in 2018 by Amberley Publishing. 

The Ceramics Gallery has been updated to include new themes and labels.  This 
includes some new pieces and items from the store which have not been shown for 25 
years.  

Public Document Pack

Page 51

Agenda Item 9



MUSEUMS COMMITTEE

27 NOVEMBER 2017

CAB. 2

In response to a recommendation in the first Resilience report, the internal signage 
has been revised and redesigned by HBC graphic designers, using colours and 
symbols to help visitors find their way around the museum.  

Mrs Barrett requested the items in the ceramic gallery are rotated so exhibits are 
changed regularly.  She congratulated staff on the new labelling, stating it is large; 
clear and at head height.  The Curator said she would pass the compliment to 
Catherine Harvey, Keeper of Art & World Cultures and Sarah Fretwell, Graphic 
Designer.

Barrett proposed a motion to recommend the resolution as set out below.  This was 
seconded by Councillor Howard.

RESOLVED (unanimously) that the committee accepts and is satisfied 
with the report

110. INTRODUCTION TO MICHAEL COOKE, MUSEUM RELATIONSHIP 
MANAGER ARTS COUNCIL ENGLAND 

The Curator advised that due to unforeseen circumstances Mr Cooke was unable to 
attend the meeting.  Mr Cooke will attend on a future committee date.

111. RESILIENCE PROJECT 

The Curator presented a report which updated the committee on the progress of the 
two museum resilience projects.

The project, which was funded by Arts Council England, aims were to define the 
Museum’s core purpose and develop a vision to enable it to grow and develop its 
services to meet future challenges. 

Finding our Place 1, commenced April 2015.  A five-point action plan was developed 
to address the outcomes of the review and identify a number of short term actions. Eg 
internal signage. These have been completed.

Finding our Place 2, commenced October 2016-2018.  Focuses on four areas of 
improvement, identified in Stage 1 of the review. Eg visibility; audience engagement 
and project expertise.  

Finding our Place 3, will follow completion of the current project and will undertake 
initial planning for the development and submission of Heritage Lottery Fund capital 
bid.  It will investigate new approaches to income generation and engagement with 
existing and potential audiences.   

Applications to the Heritage Lottery Fund can be made at any time.  It is expected the 
application will follow completion of the current Finding our Place project.  

Page 52



MUSEUMS COMMITTEE

27 NOVEMBER 2017

CAB. 3

Councillor Street said the vision for the museum was narrow and needed to 
incorporate ‘visitors’ rather than ‘the people of Hastings’.

Mr Peak said the size of the archives would benefit from being increased by a large 
capital sum.  The Curator explained storage was included in the capital programme.  

Councillor Howard suggested selling items on-line as part of the income generation 
strategy.  The Curator said it would be dependent on a number of factors: the Councils 
IT system to support the activity and staff capacity for people to pack and post items.   
The retail consultant will assess whether this is feasible.  

Councillor Edwards asked how the rates were established and if consideration had 
been given to hiring out the Long Gallery and Durbar Room to local groups in the 
voluntary / charitable sector.  The Curator advised the hire rates were determined by 
interest rates and staffing costs.  Although the fees and charges were fixed for 
2018/19, they will be reviewed by the Business Consultant.  She said help is given to 
local community groups during the day time.  

Councillor Edwards asked how much the fees for the Long Gallery were. The Curator 
advised the charge for half a day is £66, £132 for a whole day and £420 and £510 for 
evening hire.  

Mrs Purdey said the museums fees were on a par with other museums.  Maidstone 
Museum offer more, however their café is supplemented.  She felt £450 was too 
expensive for the Long Room.  

Councillor Bacon asked if there was a co-ordinated approach to working with 1066.  
The Curator advised they are marketed by 1066. She said the consultant will review 
this area of work.  In respect of funding, Councillor Bacon asked if schools could pay 
for a box of loan items. The Curator advised him the service was free and they were 
recommended not to charge for the loan of the school boxes.  

Mrs Barrett said that if the schools were charged a fee for the loan boxes they would 
not visit.  She stressed the Consultants should be made aware that school visits would 
drop. The museum she said needs to be competing, the arts venues are second to 
none in Hastings.  She recommended the museum holds concert events in the 
evening.

Councillor Edwards proposed a motion to recommend the resolution as set out 
below.  This was seconded by Mrs Barrett.

RESOLVED (unanimously) that the committee accepts and is satisfied 
with the report.

112. REQUEST FOR LOAN 

The Curator presented a report to inform members of a request for a loan from the 
Museum collection.

Page 53



MUSEUMS COMMITTEE

27 NOVEMBER 2017

CAB. 4

The Ashmolean Museum, University of Oxford is holding a landmark exhibition entitled 
‘Spellbound: Thinking Magically, Past and Present’ from September 2018 to January 
2019.  It is the first large scale installation to explore the concept of ‘magical thinking’, 
of how people connect with unseen world.

A request has been received for the loan of a 16th century cast-iron fireback used to 
ward off witches and evil spirits and to protect the chimney, requiring magical 
protection.  All costs associated with the loan and insurance will be covered by the 
Ashmolean Museum.

Mrs Barratt suggested the Museum hold it’s own exhibition on legends myths and 
magic.  The curator confirmed the exhibitions had already been scheduled for next 
year, but it would be considered as a future event.

Councillor Patmore proposed a motion to recommend the resolution as set out below.  
This was seconded by Mr Palfrey-Martin.

RESOLVED (unanimously) that the committee accepts and is satisfied 
with the report

113. MUSEUM ATTENDANCE FIGURES 

Cathy Walling, Museum Curator, presented a report to inform members of figures for 
attendances, educational activities and use of social media for the second quarter of 
2017-18.  Figures for July to September 2017 were submitted for comparison.  

The Curator reported an increase of 703 visitors to the Museum between July and 
September, compared to the same time last year. This includes the Museum’s 125th 
Anniversary Party in August which attracted around 1,200 visitors and 300 went to the 
Family Activity Day in July.  The popular Eric Slater exhibition on ‘The Colour 
Woodcuts’, attracted visitors from all over the country.

Student numbers were slightly down this quarter. It was noted that a number of 
schools from outside the area had booked education sessions with the Learning 
Officer. The Library’s popular Family ‘Rhyme Time’ continues to be popular.    

At the time of the meeting, the number of followers on Twitter had increased to 1,523 
and Facebook to 1,701.  The museum held a ‘take over day’ for young people aged 
14yrs to 19yrs. They took over Facebook and Twitter for the day, focusing discussion 
on the museum objects.  The most popular post on Facebook was a set of 
photographs of Central St. Leonards in 1967 which reached 14,000 hits.
There had been a fall in the number of weddings and civil ceremonies over quarter 2, 
from 8 to 2 compared to the same period in the previous year.  Other venues in the 
town had reported a similar trend.  
Mrs Barrett, praised the special consultation event held by the young people, attended 
by 60 visitors.  Unfortunately it was conflicted by other events.

Page 54



MUSEUMS COMMITTEE

27 NOVEMBER 2017

CAB. 5

Mrs Barrett proposed a motion to recommend the resolution as set out below.  This 
was seconded by Councillor Street.

RESOLVED (unanimously) that the committee accepts and is satisfied 
with the report

114. MUSEUM EVENTS AND ACTIVITIES 

The Curator presented a report which gave an overview of the events and activities 
that were planned at the museum between January and March 2018.

Exhibitions
An exhibition on ‘A Sense of Place’ runs until 11 March.  Followed by the 50th 
anniversary memorial exhibition of the works of Vincent Lines, Head of Hastings 
School of Art. In the Upper Walkway there will be 2 contrasting painting displays – 
artist Peter Waldron’s Louloudia Series of works inspired by Crete, followed by 19th 
century topographical views by Evacustes Phipson.

Events
There will be  two Family Activity Days in Quarter 4, based around ceramics and 
buildings. During the building activity day, families will be able to create their own town 
model.  An adult mosaic masterclass to be held in February 2018, led by Emma 
Harding and in March filmmaker Rebecca Marshall they will talk about her work 
exploring ‘time’ in ‘Fever of the Light’. The Museum's popular Easter Egg Hunt will be 
back at the end of March for the school Easter break.

The adult Wreathmaking workshop was well attended with 12 participants. 
Attendances will be monitored to see if there is an appetite to provide more adult 
classes.

It was noted the Happy Harold Trolley Bus would be at the museum on 1st April 2018.  

Councillor Street asked the Curator if it would be possible to reproduce some of the 
exhibition pictures in poster form. The Curator confirmed that postcards had been 
made of some of the paintings. Members were informed that pictures could be ordered 
and paid for ‘on demand’ at the Fishermen’s Museum desk.  The Curator advised the 
Business Consultant will be undertaking a review of the museums assets.  

Councillor Sinden proposed a motion to recommend the resolution as set out below.  
This was seconded by Councillor Bacon.

RESOLVED (unanimously) that the committee accepts and is satisfied 
with the report

115. MUSEUM ACQUISITIONS 

Page 55



MUSEUMS COMMITTEE

27 NOVEMBER 2017

CAB. 6

The Curator presented a report which provided an overview of the items recently 
acquired by the museum in the last quarter and the names of donors.  The items 
included: -

1. Three folders of photographs and ephemera relating to the firm WM Still & Sons, 
Hastings
Donor: Mr A Chapman

2. Two commemorative issue first day covers for Hastings, 1966 and 1968
Donor: Mr A Gunn

3. Photographs, medals and ephemera relating to Edwin Bradnam, former Mayor of 
Hastings
Donor: Mrs D Parker

4. Pier programmes and photographs of donor's father making engine models
Donor: Mr D Holdstock

5. Television and radio Guide, 1930s
Donor: Mr C Bendon-Hill

6. Booklet - FJ Parsons, One Hundred Years of Printing
Donor: Mr I Shiner

7. Portraits, photos, diaries and deeds relating to Joseph Green and property in 
Ashburnham Road, Hastings
Donor: Mrs J Phillips

With the agreement of the Chair, the Curator reported on the following items which 
were received after the agenda was published.

8. Three publicity leaflets
Donor: Gairloch Heritage Museum

9. Wedding veil, photographs and postcards
Donor: Mr K Crouch

10.  Records of births in Hastings 1836-1891, photographs and postcards relating to 
Gabb family
Donor: Dr J Gabb

Councillor Street spoke about the difficulty accessing items in the archives.  He asked 
for accessibility to be improved when the review takes place. 

Mrs Barrett requested the births and record book is not sent to the Keep for archiving.  
She said genealogy had become a popular activity, so the record book needs to be 
easily accessible at the museum for people to use it.

Page 56



MUSEUMS COMMITTEE

27 NOVEMBER 2017

CAB. 7

In agreement, Mr Palfrey-Martin said that local history was of the greatest interest to 
people.  95% visits relate to family housing and photos.  He recommended the maps 
at the Keep be returned to the museum.

Mr Palfrey-Martin proposed a motion to recommend the resolution as set out below.  
This was seconded by Councillor Street.

The Curator confirmed there would be an update at the next meeting regarding the 
recent attempt to acquire the painting discussed at the last meeting.

RESOLVED that the committee accepts and is satisfied with the report.

116. ADDITIONAL URGENT ITEMS (IF ANY) 

None

(The Chair declared the meeting closed at. 3.33 pm)

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 58


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of last meeting held on 4 December 2018
	Minutes

	5 Youth Council Manifesto
	Appendix A.  Youth Council Manifesto

	6 Hastings Museum Strategic Development
	Enc. 1 for Finding Our Place
	Enc. 2 for Finding Our Place

	7 Lifeguard Service
	8 Proposal for Local Nature Reserves
	Appendix 1 - LNR Churchwood and Robsack Existing Proposed Extension
	Appendix 2 - Pondswood LNR Designation Map2 414c

	9 Minutes of the Museums Committee meeting held on 27 November 2017
	Minutes


